
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Licensing Panel

Members of the Licensing Panel of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend a 
meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Suite on Monday, 9 May 2022 at 10.00 am 
when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To declare any interest Members may have in the applications being 
considered.   When declaring an interest a Member must state what their 
interest is. 

3. Consideration of an application for a new premises licence for Milton 
Convenience Store, 29-30 Milton Road, Gravesend, Kent DA12 2RF 

(Pages 3 - 50)

Part B
Items likely to be considered in private

None. 



Members

Councillors: Seve Thompson (Chair) 
John Caller
Frank Wardle

Substitutes: To be notified



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Licensing Panel

Date: 9th May 2022

Reporting officer: Lisa Hopson,  Licensing Officer

Subject: Consideration of an application for a new premises licence for 
Milton Convenience Store, 29-30 Milton Road, Gravesend, Kent 
DA12 2RF

Purpose and summary of report: 
To assist members to determine an application for a new premises licence under the 
Licensing Act 2003 (LA03).

Recommendations:
1. Members are requested to determine the application on its merits.

Key Implications:
Item Implications
Legal The LA03 requires licensing authorities to publish a Statement of 

Licensing Policy which sets out the policies they have in place to 
promote the four licensing objectives.  This policy must be 
considered when making decisions on applications.  The current 
policy is in place until 15 April 2024.  It is available for viewing on 
the website. 
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/18572
6/Licensing-Policy-2019-24.pdf  
The licensing authority are required have regard to the Section 
182 guidance issued by the Secretary of State.  The licensing 
panel is able to depart from this guidance, but only when they 
have reason to do so.
Revised guidance issued under section 182 of Licensing Act 2003 
- GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
The panel are reminded that the Human Rights Act guarantees 
the right to a fair hearing for all parties in the determination of their 
civil rights.  The Act also provides for the protection of property 
which may include licences in existence, and the protection of 
private and family life.
In accordance with the provisions of the Act, if a licensing 
authority rejects in whole of part an application for a premises 
licence the applicant may appeal against the decision to a 
Magistrates Court within 21 days of being notified of the decision.

Page 3 Agenda Item 3

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/185726/Licensing-Policy-2019-24.pdf
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/185726/Licensing-Policy-2019-24.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003


2

Similarly, where a person who made relevant representations in 
relation to the application contends that the licence ought not to 
have been granted or that different or additional conditions should 
have been imposed on the licence, they may appeal against the 
decision to a Magistrates court within 21 days of being notified of 
the decision.

Finance and Value for 
Money

None unless there is an appeal about the Panel decision to 
Magistrates Court which proves to be successful and which could 
therefore result in costs being awarded against the Council.

Corporate Plan There are direct links to Corporate Objective #1 – People and the 
associated commitment to enforce high regulatory standards: Put 
customer and employee safety first by ensuring commercial 
businesses and licence holders are fully compliant with expected 
legislative standards.

Climate Change N/A

1. Introduction

1.1 The Licensing Panel is asked to determine an application for a new premises 
licence, following receipt of objections from Environmental Protection, Ward 
Councillors and members of the public. Agreement has been reached with Kent 
Police. The application is in respect of the premises  Milton Convenience Store, 
29 & 30 Milton Road, Gravesend, Kent DA12 2R, 

2. Background

2.1 This premises has held a licence since November 2005 for 29 Milton Road 
Gravesend.  The current licensable hours are as follows:

2.1.1.1 Sale by retail of alcohol

2.1.1.2 Monday to Sunday  06:00 to 23:00

2.2 A copy of the current premises licence can be found at Appendix 1.

3. The Application

3.1 On 28 February 2022 an application was received from Licensing Matters, 
Licensing Agents, on behalf of Mr Kalatharan Kandiah

3.2 The application is for a new premises licence to cover 29 & 30 Milton Road, 
Gravesend. The licensable hours requested are as follows:

3.2.1 Sale by retail of alcohol

3.2.1.1 Monday to Sunday 00:00 to 00:00

3.2.1.2 Late Night Refreshment

3.2.1.3 Monday to Sunday 23:00 to 00:00

3.3 Section M of the application form asks the applicant to describe the steps they 
intend to take to promote the four licensing objectives.  These steps will be added 

Page 4



3

to the premises licence as clear and enforceable conditions.  The panel may 
choose to amend these conditions.

3.4 A copy of the application can be found at Appendix 2.

3.5 On the 14 March 2022 the Applicant’s Agent informed Licensing that the 
newspaper advertising requirement had not been complied with.   Therefore the 
consultation restarted with the consultation end date of 11th April 2022.

3.6 On 22 March 2022 the Applicant forwarded volunteered conditions to add to the 
operating schedule.  

3.7 A copy of the volunteered conditions can be found at Appendix 3

4. Representations

4.1 At any stage during the 28 day consultation period a responsible authority, a 
Councillor or an interested party may make representations provided that the 
grounds are relevant to the licensing objectives and are not deemed to be 
vexatious, frivolous or repetitive.

4.2 On 7 & 8 March 2022 Environmental Protection submitted an objection.  They 
requested a reduction in proposed hours and have based their objection on the 
prevention of public nuisance objective. 

4.2.1 The emails with the objection can be found at Appendix 4.

4.3 On the 28th March 2022 Kent Police submitted an objection but after liaising with 
the Applicant’s Agent came to an agreement and the Police withdrew their 
representation.   

4.3.1 Licensing required clarity on condition 8 the condition was amended in 
agreement with Kent Police and the Licensing Agent.

4.3.2 A copy of Kent Police objection, agreement  and  amended condition 8, 
can be found at Appendix 5.

4.4 On the 24th March 2022 an objection was received from Ward Councillors

4.4.1 A copy of the Ward Councillors objection can be found at Appendix 6.

4.5 During the consultation period we have received 6 public objections

4.5.1 A copy of the public objections can be found at Appendix 7.

4.6 On 30 March 2022 Gravesham Free & Safe Environment Co-ordinator submitted 
an objection 

4.6.1 A copy of G-Safe objection can be found at Appendix 8 

4.7 The consultation period for this application ended on 11 April 2022, no response 
had been received from the agent or the applicant at this time.  The application 
has therefore been brought to this panel for a determination. 

5. Appendices

5.1 The following documents are to be published with the report: 

5.1.1 Appendix 1 – Current premises licence

Page 5



4

5.1.2 Appendix 2 – Application form

5.1.3 Appendix 3 – Volunteered Conditions

5.1.4 Appendix 4 – Environmental Protection objection

5.1.5 Appendix 5 -  Kent Police objection, agreement & amended condition 8

5.1.6 Appendix 6 – Ward Councillors objection

5.1.7 Appendix 7 -  Public objections 

5.1.8 Appendix 8 -  G-Safe objection 

6. Background Documents 

6.1 There are no background documents.

Lead Officer: Lisa Hopson 

Email: lisa.hopson@gravesham.gov.uk 

Page 6

mailto:lisa.hopson@gravesham.gov.uk


5

Secondary Implications
Risk Assessment Departure from the Guidance and Policy could lead to an increased risk of appeal.  

Ensuring that all decisions are evidence based, justified and proportionate, and that 
sufficiently detailed reasons for decisions are given, helps to reduce the risk of a 
successful appeal.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Crime and Disorder There are obvious links to community safety and the perception of crime and 
disorder if licensed premises are not run and managed properly or adequately 
enforced.

Digital and website 
implications

Basic notices are published on our website for all premises applications during the 
consultation period.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The Licensing Act 2003 requires premises licence holders to promote the licensing 
objective ‘Protection of children from harm’.  Licensing Authorities must play their 
part in taking the required action against those that don’t appear to be promoting 
this objective.

Page 7

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



17 July 2020

Page 1 of 4
20/01590/LAPL11

Premises Licence

Premises licence number: 20/01590/LAPL11

Part 1 - Premises details

Postal address of premises, or if none, ordnance survey map reference or description

Londis  Milton Convenience 29 Milton Road 

Post town:  Gravesend Post code: DA12 2RF

Telephone number: 01474 56 70 40 

Licensable activities authorised by the licence

Off sales of alcohol

The times the licence authorises the carrying out of licensable activities

Sale of Alcohol 
Monday to Sunday    06:00 to 23:00

The opening hours of the premises

Monday to Sunday     06:00 to 00:00

Name, (registered) address, telephone number and email (where relevant) of holder of 
premises licence

Mr Kandiah Thayatharan, 29 Milton Road, Gravesend, Kent DA12 2RF 

Where the licence authorises supplies of alcohol whether these are on and/ or off supplies
Off only

Name, address and telephone number of designated premises supervisor where the 
premises licence authorises for the supply of alcohol

Mr Kandiah Thayatharan, 

Personal licence number and issuing authority of personal licence held by designated 
premises supervisor where the premises licence authorises for the supply of alcohol

Annex 1 - Mandatory conditions

Page 9



17 July 2020

Page 2 of 4
20/01590/LAPL11

Condition 1 – took effect 24 November 2005
No supply of alcohol may be made under this licence:-

(a) At a time when there is no designated premises supervisor in respect of it or
(b) At a time when the designated premises supervisor does not hold a personal licence or 

his/her personal licence is suspended.

Every retail sale or supply of alcohol made under this licence must be made or authorised 
by a person who holds a personal licence.

Condition 9  – took effect 1 October 2014
(1) The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that an age 

verification policy is adopted in respect of the premises in relation to the sale or supply 
of alcohol

(2) The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises licence must ensure 
that the supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with the age 
verification policy.

(3) The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be under 
18 years of age (or such older age as may be specified in the policy) to produce on 
request, before being served alcohol, identification bearing their photograph, date of 
birth and either

  (a) a holographic mark, or
(b) an ultraviolet feature

Condition 11 – took effect 28 May 2014
(1) A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or 

off the premises for a price, which is less than the permitted price.

(2) For the purpose of the condition set out in paragraph 1:-

(a) “duty” is to be construed in accordance with the Alcoholic Liquor Duties Act 
1979(6);

(b) “permitted price” is the price found by applying the formula:- P = D + (D x V) where:- 

(i) P is the permitted price,
(ii) D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the duty were 

charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol, and
(iii) V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the 

value added tax were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol;

(c) “relevant person” means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force 
a premises licence:-

(i)   the holder of the premises licence
(ii)  the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of such a licence, or
(iii) the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply of alcohol under 

such a licence;

Page 10



17 July 2020

Page 3 of 4
20/01590/LAPL11

(d) “relevant person” means, in relation to 
premises in respect of which there is in force 
a club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the 
premises in a capacity which enables the member or officer to prevent the supply in 
question; and 

(e) “value added tax” means value added tax charged in accordance with the Value 
Added Tax Act 1994(7)

(3)  Where the permitted price given by Paragraph (b) of paragraph (2) would (apart from 
this paragraph) not be a whole number of pennies, the price given by that sub-
paragraph shall be taken to be the price actually given by that sub-paragraph rounded 
up to the nearest penny.

(4)  (1) Sub-paragraph (2) applies where the permitted price given by Paragraph (b) of 
paragraph (2) on a day (“the first day”) would be different from the permitted price 
on the next day (“the second day”) as a result of a change to the rate of duty or 
value added tax.

(2) The permitted price which would apply on the first day applies to sales or supplies 
of alcohol which take place before the expiry of the period of 14 days beginning on 
the second day.

Annex 2 – Conditions consistent with the operating schedule

1. CCTV must be installed to the satisfaction of the Police and Local Authority in accordance 
with the CCTV code of practice issued by the Information Commissioner’s Office. Recordings 
are to be maintained for at least 31 days. If the equipment fails the Police and the Council 
must be informed as soon as possible and immediate steps will be taken to put the equipment 
back into service.  

2. At all times when the premises are open and trading, there must be at least one person who 
is trained in the use of the CCTV equipment and is able to obtain recordings directly from 
the system. Recordings are to be given to the Police or authorised person upon request.

3. All staff working on the premises will be fully trained to ensure they understand and adhere 
to the law relating to the sale / supply of alcohol. This training is to be documented and 
recorded.

4. At all times the Designated Premises Supervisor or a personal licence holder must be 
present to authorise the sale / supply of alcohol. 

5. All alcohol is to be displayed on suitable shelving as indicated on the plan and NOT on the 
floor. 

6. At not time is alcohol to be displayed near to the entrance or exit doors.
7. All surplus supplies of alcohol are to be stored in a locked stockroom.
8. No ID No Sale notices are to be displayed clearly on the tills.
9. These premises will ensure that any person appearing to be under 25 years of age and 

attempting to purchase alcohol will be asked to provide identification and proof of age. Proof 
of age accepted would either be new photo driving licence, valid UK passport, Official HM 
Armed forces ID or a recognised ID card containing the official PASS logo. 

Page 11



17 July 2020

Page 4 of 4
20/01590/LAPL11

Annex 3 – Conditions attached after a hearing by the 
licensing authority

1. A register of refusals of alcohol will be maintained at the premises. The register shall be 
examined on a regular basis by the duty manager/ DPS and the date and time of each 
examination will be endorsed in the register. The register will be made available for 
inspection by the Police and other responsible authority

2. An incident register will be maintained at the premises and will be made available for 
inspection by the Police and other responsible authority. All incidents of a criminal matter 
will be reported to the police and full details entered into the register. 

3. No beer, lager, cider, perry or spirit mixer above 7.5% will be sold at the premises.  

4. A ‘clear glazing’ policy for the window at the front of the shop shall be kept above 1 metre 
and below 2 meters (measured from the shop floor) so staff have an unobstructed view of 
the area outside the front of the premises through the glass looking into the street. The 
exception to this shall be the display of notices required by law and any required as a 
condition of this licence.

Annex 4 – Plans – See attached

Signed: Dated: 17 July 2020

Mark Lees HND MSc AMIOA MCIEH
Regulatory Services Manager

Page 12



Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003

PLEASE READ THE FOLLOWING INSTRUCTIONS FIRST

Before completing this form please read the guidance notes at the end of the form.  If you are completing this form by 
hand please write legibly in block capitals.  In all cases ensure that your answers are inside the boxes and written in black 
ink.  Use additional sheets if necessary.

You may wish to keep a copy of the completed form for your records.

I/We Kalatharan Kandiah

         
apply for a premises licence under section 17 of the Licensing Act 2003 for the premises described in Part 1 below (the 
premises) and I/we are making this application to you as the relevant licensing authority in accordance with section 12 
of the Licensing Act 2003

Part 1 – Premises details
                                                                                         

Postal address of premises or, if none, ordnance survey map reference or description
Milton Convenience Store 
29 & 30 Milton Road 
Gravesend 
Kent 
DA12 2RF

Post town Gravesend Postcode DA12 2RF

Telephone number at premises (if any)

Non-domestic rateable value of premises £ 6900

Part 2 - Applicant details

Please state whether you are applying for a premises licence as          Please tick as appropriate
a) an individual or individuals * please complete section (A) X

b) a person other than an individual *

i as a limited company/limited liability partnership please complete section (B)

ii as a partnership (other than limited liability) please complete section (B) 

iii as an unincorporated association or please complete section (B) 

iv other (for example a statutory corporation) please complete section (B) 

c) a recognised club please complete section (B) 

d) a charity please complete section (B) 

e) the proprietor of an educational establishment please complete section (B) 

f) a health service body please complete section (B) 

Page 13



g)

ga)

a person who is registered under Part 2 of the Care Standards 
Act 2000 (c14) in respect of an independent hospital in Wales 
a person who is registered under Chapter 2 of Part 1 of the 
Health and Social Care Act 2008 (within the meaning of that 
Part) in an independent hospital in England

please complete section (B) 
please complete section (B) 

h) the chief officer of police of a police force in England and please complete section (B) 
Wales

* If you are applying as a person described in (a) or (b) please confirm (by ticking yes to one box below):   

I am carrying on or proposing to carry on a business which involves the use of the premises for licensable 
activities; X  or

I am making the application pursuant to a

 statutory function or     a function discharged by virtue of Her 
Majesty’s prerogative

(A) INDIVIDUAL APPLICANTS (fill in as applicable)

Mr. Other Title (for 
example, Rev)

 

Surname
Kandiah

First names
Kalatharan   

Date of birth 26/09/1973      
I am 18 years old or over YES

                            

Nationality      British

Current residential address if 
different from premises address

6 Victor House 
207 Charlton Road 
Charlton London 
SE7 7FD

Post town      Charlton Postcode SE7 7FD

Daytime contact telephone number

E-mail address
(optional)

Where applicable (if demonstrating a right to work via the Home Office online right to work checking service), the 9-
digit ‘share code’ provided to the applicant by that service (please see note 15 for information)
         

SECOND INDIVIDUAL APPLICANT (if applicable)

Page 14



Other Title (for example, Rev)      

Surname
     

First names
     

Date of birth                                  I am 18 years old or over

Nationality    

Where applicable (if demonstrating a right to work via the Home Office online right to work checking service), the 9-
digit ‘share code’ provided to the applicant by that service: (please see note 15 for information)
         

Current residential address if 
different from premises 
address

Post town      Postcode
   
 

Daytime contact telephone number      

E-mail address
(optional)      

(B) OTHER APPLICANTS

Please provide name and registered address of applicant in full.  Where appropriate please give any registered number.  
In the case of a partnership or other joint venture (other than a body corporate), please give the name and address of 
each party concerned.

Name
   

Address
   

Registered number (where applicable)

Page 15



Description of applicant (for example, partnership, company, unincorporated association etc.)
     

Telephone number (if any)
 
     

E-mail address (optional)
     

Part 3 Operating Schedule

When do you want the premises licence to start? 26/03/2022

If you wish the licence to be valid only for a limited period, when do you want it to 
end?

Please give a general description of the premises (please read guidance note 1)

Existing convenience store that is being knocked into next door to create an improved service to 
customers.

If 5,000 or more people are expected to attend the premises at any one time, please state the number expected 
to attend.

What licensable activities do you intend to carry on from the premises?
(please see sections 1 and 14 and Schedules 1 and 2 to the Licensing Act 2003)

Please
tick all

Provision of regulated entertainment (please read guidance note 2)       
that apply a) plays (if ticking yes, fill in box A)

b) films (if ticking yes, fill in box B)

c) indoor sporting events (if ticking yes, fill in box C)

d) boxing or wrestling entertainment (if ticking yes, fill in box D)

e) live music (if ticking yes, fill in box E)

f) recorded music (if ticking yes, fill in box F)

g) performances of dance (if ticking yes, fill in box G)

Page 16



anything of a similar description to that falling within (e), (f) or (g) h)
(if ticking yes, fill in box H)

Provision of late night refreshment (if ticking yes, fill in box I) X

Supply of alcohol (if ticking yes, fill in box J) X

In all cases complete boxes K, L and M

A

Indoors
Plays
Standard days and timings
(please read guidance note
7)

Will the performance of a play take place indoors or 
outdoors or both – please tick (please read guidance note 3)

Outdoors

Day Start Finish Both

         Mon

          

          Tue

          

Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4)
     

          Wed

          

          Thur

          

State any seasonal variations for performing plays (please read guidance note 5)
     

          Fri

          

          Sat

          

          Sun

          

Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises for the performance 
of plays at different times to those listed in the column on the left, please list 
(please read guidance note 6)

B

Films
Standard days and timings
(please read guidance note
7)

Will the exhibition of films take place indoors or outdoors 
or both – please tick (please read guidance note 3) Indoors

Page 17



Outdoors

Day Start Finish Both

          Mon

          

     Tue

          

Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4)
     

          Wed

          

     Thur

          

State any seasonal variations for the exhibition of films (please read guidance note 
5)
     

    Fri

          

         Sat

          

   Sun

          

Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises for the exhibition of 
films at different times to those listed in the column on the left, please list (please 
read guidance note 6)
     

C

Indoor sporting events
Standard days and timings
(please read guidance note
7)

Day Start Finish

         Mon

          

Please give further details (please read guidance note 4)
     

 Tue

          

Wed

          

State any seasonal variations for indoor sporting events (please read guidance note 
5)
     

Page 18



Thur

          

 Fri

          

Sat

          

Sun

          

Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises for indoor sporting 
events at different times to those listed in the column on the left, please list (please 
read guidance note 6)
     

D

Indoors
Boxing or wrestling 
entertainments
Standard days and timings
(please read guidance note
7)

Outdoors

Day Start Finish

Will the boxing or wrestling entertainment take place 
indoors or outdoors or both – please tick
(please read guidance note 3) 

Both

     Mon

          

 Tue

          

Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4)
     

Wed

          

Thur

          

State any seasonal variations for boxing or wrestling entertainment (please read 
guidance note 5)
     

 Fri

          

Sat

          

Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises for boxing or 
wrestling entertainment at different times to those listed in the column on the left, 
please list (please read guidance note 6)
     

Page 19



Sun

          

E

Indoors
Live music
Standard days and timings
(please read guidance note
7)

Outdoors

Day Start Finish

Will the performance of live music take place indoors or 
outdoors or both – please tick (please read guidance note 3) 

Both

    Mon

          

Tue

          

Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4)
     

Wed

          

Thur

          

State any seasonal variations for the performance of live music (please read 
guidance note 5)
     

Fri

          

Sat

          

Sun

          

Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises for the performance 
of live music at different times to those listed in the column on the left, please list 
(please read guidance note 6)
     

F

Indoors
Recorded music
Standard days and timings
(please read guidance note
7)

Outdoors

Day Start Finish

Will the playing of recorded music take place indoors or 
outdoors or both – please tick (please read guidance note 3) 

Both

     Mon

          

Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4)
     

Page 20



Tue

          

Wed

          

Thur

          

State any seasonal variations for the playing of recorded music (please read 
guidance note 5)
     

Fri

          

Sat

          

Sun

          

Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises for the playing of 
recorded music at different times to those listed in the column on the left, please 
list (please read guidance note 6)
     

G

Indoors
Performances of dance
Standard days and timings
(please read guidance note
7)

Outdoors

Day Start Finish

Will the performance of dance take place indoors or 
outdoors or both – please tick (please read guidance note 3) 

Both

 Mon

          

Tue

          

Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4)
     

Wed

          

Thur

          

State any seasonal variations for the performance of dance (please read guidance 
note 5)
     

Fri

          

Sat

Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises for the performance 
of dance at different times to those listed in the column on the left, please list 
(please read guidance note 6)
     

Page 21



          

Sun

          

H

Anything of a similar 
description to that falling 
within (e), (f) or (g)
Standard days and timings
(please read guidance note
7)

Please give a description of the type of entertainment you will be providing
  

Day Start Finish
Indoors

    OutdoorsMon

          

Will this entertainment take place indoors or outdoors or 
both – please tick (please read guidance note 3)

Both

Tue

          

 Wed

          

Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4)
     

Thur

          

          

Fri

State any seasonal variations for entertainment of a similar description to that 
falling within (e), (f) or (g)   (please read guidance note 5)
     

Sat

          

Sun

          

Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises for the entertainment 
of a similar description to that falling within (e), (f) or (g) at different times to those 
listed in the column on the left, please list (please read guidance note 6)
     

 I

Page 22



Indoors X

Outdoors

Late night refreshment
Standard days and timings
(please read guidance note
7)

Will the provision of late night refreshment take place 
indoors or outdoors or both – please tick
(please read guidance note 3)

Both
Day Start Finish

Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4)
23:00    05:00    Mon
          

23:00 05:00Tue

          

23:00 05:00Wed

          

23:00 05:00Thur

          

State any seasonal variations for the provision of late night refreshment (please 
read guidance note 5)
     
N/A

23:00  05:00Fri

          Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises for the provision of 
late night refreshment at different times, to those listed in the column on the left, 
please list (please read guidance note 6)

23:00 05:00Sat
          

23:00 05:00Sun

          

     
N/A

J

On the 
premises

Supply of alcohol
Standard days and timings
(please read guidance note
7)

Off the 
premises

X

Day Start Finish

Will the supply of alcohol be for consumption – please tick 
(please read guidance note 8) 

Both

00:00 00:00 Mon

          

00:00 00:00Tue

          

00:00 00:00Wed

          

State any seasonal variations for the supply of alcohol (please read guidance note 5)
     
N/A

00:00 00:00Thur

          Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises for the supply of 
alcohol at different times to those listed in the column on the left, please list (please 
read guidance note 6)

00:00 00:00Fri
          

00:00 00:00Sat

          

Sun 00:00 00:00

     
N/A

Page 23



          

State the name and details of the individual whom you wish to specify on the licence as designated premises supervisor 
(Please see declaration about the entitlement to work in the checklist at the end of the form):

Name     Mr. Kalatharan Kandiah

Date of birth   

Postcode

Personal licence number (if known)
 

Issuing licensing authority (if known)
 

K

Please highlight any adult entertainment or services, activities, other entertainment or matters ancillary to the use of 
the premises that may give rise to concern in respect of children (please read guidance note 9).

L

Hours premises are open to 
the public
Standard days and timings
(please read guidance note
7)

Day Start Finish

Mon 00:00 
  

00:00 

State any seasonal variations (please read guidance note 5)
     
N/A

Page 24



          

00:00 00:00Tue

          

00:00 00:00Wed

          

00:00 00:00Thur

          

00:00 00:00Fri

          

00:00 00:00Sat

          

00:00 00:00Sun

          

Non standard timings.  Where you intend the premises to be open to the public at 
different times from those listed in the column on the left, please list (please read 
guidance note 6)
     
N/A

M

Describe the steps you intend to take to promote the four licensing objectives:
a) General – all four licensing objectives (b, c, d and e) (please read guidance note 10)

     
On first appointment, all staff employed at the premises will receive training on the Licensing Act 2003 including input 
on preventing underage sales, preventing sales of alcohol to people who are drunk and any other relevant matters. 
Training shall be regularly refreshed at no less than annual intervals. The training must be recorded and be accessible on 
the premises and made available for inspection upon request of a Police Officer or an authorised officer of the licensing 
authority or (in the case of online training) within 48 hours.

b) The prevention of crime and disorder

     
A CCTV system will be in operation at the premises and recorded images shall be retained for a period of 31 days. CCTV 
images will be provided to the police and other responsible authorities as soon as practicable and in any case within 48 
hours of a request for such images, subject of the provisions of the DPA.

c) Public safety

     
An incident register will be maintained at the premises and made available to the authorities on request.

Page 25



d) The prevention of public nuisance

     
A register of refusals of alcohol will be maintained at the premises. The register will be made available for inspection by 
the Police and other responsible authority

e) The protection of children from harm

     
The premises will adopt a ’Challenge 25’ policy. This means that if a customer purchasing alcohol appears to be under 
the age of 25, they will be asked for proof of their age, to prove that they are 18 years or older. 
Posters will be on display advising customers of the ‘Challenge 25’policy.
The only forms of identification that will be accepted at the premises are a passport, UK photo-card driving licences, 
military ID & cards bearing the ‘PASS’ hologram. 

Checklist:

Please tick to indicate agreement

X I have made or enclosed payment of the fee.

X I have enclosed the plan of the premises.

X I have sent copies of this application and the plan to responsible authorities and others where 
applicable.

X I have enclosed the consent form completed by the individual I wish to be designated premises 
supervisor, if applicable.

X I understand that I must now advertise my application.

X I understand that if I do not comply with the above requirements my application will be rejected. X 
[Applicable to all individual applicants, including those in a partnership which is not a limited liability 
partnership, but not companies or limited liability partnerships] I have included documents 
demonstrating my entitlement to work in the United Kingdom or my share code issued by the Home 
Office online right to work checking service (please read note 15).

                                               
IT IS AN OFFENCE, UNDER SECTION 158 OF THE LICENSING ACT 2003, TO MAKE A FALSE STATEMENT IN OR IN 
CONNECTION WITH THIS APPLICATION. THOSE WHO MAKE A FALSE
STATEMENT MAY BE LIABLE ON SUMMARY CONVICTION TO A FINE OF ANY AMOUNT. 
IT IS AN OFFENCE UNDER SECTION 24B OF THE IMMIGRATION ACT 1971 FOR A PERSON TO WORK
WHEN THEY KNOW, OR HAVE REASONABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE, THAT THEY ARE DISQUALIFIED
FROM DOING SO BY REASON OF THEIR IMMIGRATION STATUS. THOSE WHO EMPLOY AN ADULT
WITHOUT LEAVE OR WHO IS SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS AS TO EMPLOYMENT WILL BE LIABLE TO A
CIVIL PENALTY UNDER SECTION 15 OF THE IMMIGRATION, ASYLUM AND NATIONALITY ACT 2006 AND
PURSUANT TO SECTION 21 OF THE SAME ACT, WILL BE COMMITTING AN OFFENCE WHERE THEY DO
SO IN THE KNOWLEDGE, OR WITH REASONABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE, THAT THE EMPLOYEE IS DISQUALIFIED.

Part 4 – Signatures    (please read guidance note 11)

Signature of applicant or applicant’s solicitor or other duly authorised agent (see guidance note 12).   If signing on behalf 
of the applicant, please state in what capacity.

Page 26



Declaration

[Applicable to individual applicants only, including those in a partnership which is not a 
limited liability partnership] I understand I am not entitled to be issued with a licence if I 
do not have the entitlement to live and work in the UK (or if I am subject to a condition 
preventing me from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity) and that 
my licence will become invalid if I cease to be entitled to live and work in the UK (please 
read guidance note 15).                            
                       

The DPS named in this application form is entitled to work in the UK (and is not subject to 
conditions preventing him or her from doing work relating to a licensable activity) and I 
have seen a copy of his or her proof of entitlement to work, or have conducted an online 
right to work check using the Home Office online right to work checking service which 
confirmed their right to work (please see note 15)      
                                   

Signature Gill Sherratt

Date 2022-02-25     

Capacity Authorised agent

nd nd
For joint applications, signature of 2  applicant or 2  applicant’s solicitor or other authorised agent

(please read guidance note 13).   If signing on behalf of the applicant, please state in what capacity.

Signature

Date

Capacity

Contact name (where not previously given) and postal address for correspondence associated with this application 
(please read guidance note 14)

Post town Postcode      

Telephone number (if any)

If you would prefer us to correspond with you by e-mail, your e-mail address (optional) 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Milton Convenience - Conditions
1. On first appointment, all staff employed at the premises will receive training on the 

Licensing Act 2003 including input on preventing underage sales, preventing sales of alcohol 
to people who are drunk and any other relevant matters. Training shall be regularly 
refreshed at no less than annual intervals. The training must be recorded and be accessible 
on the premises and made available for inspection upon request of a Police Officer or an 
authorised officer of the licensing authority or (in the case of online training) within 48 
hours.   

2. A CCTV system will be in operation at the premises and recorded images shall be retained 
for a period of 31 days. CCTV images will be provided to the police and other responsible 
authorities as soon as practicable and in any case within 48 hours of a request for such 
images, subject of the provisions of the DPA. 

3. An incident register will be maintained at the premises and made available to the authorities 
on request.

4. A register of refusals of alcohol will be maintained at the premises. The register will be made 
available for inspection by the Police and other responsible authority 

5. The premises will adopt a ’Challenge 25’ policy. This means that if a customer purchasing 
alcohol appears to be under the age of 25, they will be asked for proof of their age, to prove 
that they are 18 years or older. 

6. Posters will be on display advising customers of the ‘Challenge 25’policy.
7. The only forms of identification that will be accepted at the premises are a passport, UK 

photo-card driving licences, military ID & cards bearing the ‘PASS’ hologram. 
8. Between the hours of midnight and 05:00 the store will be closed and customers will not be 

allowed access to the shop & transactions will only take place via a night pay window OR a 
minimum of 2 staff members will be on duty.  

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



From: Card, Matthew <Matthew.Card@gravesham.gov.uk> 
Sent: 07 March 2022 11:18
To: Hopson, Lisa <lisa.hopson@gravesham.gov.uk>
Subject: RE: New Premises Licence Milton Convenience Store 29-30 Milton Road Gravesend

Dear Lisa 

Regarding this Licence variation. 

we are concerned that the significant extension to the premise's hours would cause an 
increased risk of noise nuisance and anti-social behaviour (ASB) to local residents. There is 
already prone to a seasonal ASB occurrence and we would therefore object on these 
grounds to the hours requested in the application.

We recommend that they stick to the Current opening hours 06:00 – 00:00 daily, as this is 
closely matches similar types of shops in the area. We also recommend that they stick with 
the serving of alcohol hours of 06:00 – 23:00 as this also reflects similar types of shops in 
the area.

Kind Regards,

Matthew Card, MA, BSc (Hons)
Environmental Health Technician
Gravesham Borough Council

From: Card, Matthew <Matthew.Card@gravesham.gov.uk> 
Sent: 08 March 2022 11:24
To: Hopson, Lisa <lisa.hopson@gravesham.gov.uk>
Subject: RE: New Premises Licence Milton Convenience Store 29-30 Milton Road Gravesend

Dear Lisa, 

We are concerned that the significant extension to the premise's hours would cause an 
increased risk of noise nuisance and anti-social behaviour to local residents. We would 
therefore object on these grounds to the hours submitted on the application.

Having spoken to members of the EP team regarding this, they mentioned that there has 
been a number of ASB reports in the area over the past few years. From this I contacted the 
Community Safety Unit CSU who stated. 

The area is prone to “seasonal” ASB occurrence. Due to 24h sale of alcohol at the petrol 
station, during warmer months, and customers tend to consume alcohol and often be loud. 
They also said sometimes they are rowdy at the end of the petrol station, on the little fences, 
very late at night. Local residents had raised complaints on few occasions last year as well 
as the owner of the neighbouring pub. They also stated the pattern is historic.

CSU also stated, On both sides you have two stores (Mila Groceries and Milano Grocery) 
that were identified as two of 8 stores in Gravesend selling illegal cigarettes and tobacco 
(last year’s operation Puggle). There is a lot of ASB associated with these stores. Now, CSU 
together with KP is in process of putting a case in court. 

I researched the opening ours for Milton Food and Wine. This is a shop is on the same row 
of buildings and appears to be the same type of shop and is next to TJ’s pub. The opening 

Page 31



hours for Milton Food and Wine are less than the hours already permitted to the applicant. 
Due to the fact that it appears the 24hr license at the petrol garage has increased the ASB in 
the area, it would be irresponsible to allow a second shop to have a 24hr license. I believe 
that as the current hours are slightly more than that of Milton Food and Wine which is a 
similar type of shop, they should not be allowed to extend their hours any further. 

Kind regards 

Matthew Card, MA, BSc (Hons)
Environmental Health Technician
Gravesham Borough Council

Page 32



 

 
Chief Officer of Police Representation in relation to an application for grant of a premise licence made 
under Part 3 Section 17 Licensing Act 2003 (S18 Licensing Act 2003) 

 

Details of person making representation 
Name of Chief Officer of Police Chief Superintendent Loudon      
Postal Address: 
(Divisional Headquarters) 
 
 

Medway Police Station 
Purser Way 
Gillingham 
Kent  
ME7 1NE 

E-mail address licensing.north.division@kent.police.uk 
Telephone Numbers:  
Licensing Co-ordinator Geoff Rowley 
Licensing Officers Ian Pickett 
 Dan Hunt 
 Andre Smuts 
  

Details of premises representation is about 

Name of Premises: Milton Convenience Store 
Address of premises: 29-30 Milton Road 

Gravesend 
Kent DA12 2RF 

Date application received by 
police 

28/02/2022 

Date representation sent to 
Licensing Authority 

All representations must be made 
within 28 days of receipt of initial 
application 
The Licensing Act 2003 (Premises Licences and 
Club Premises Certificates) Regulations 2005. Part 
4 Reg. 
22. 

28/03/2022 

The Chief Officer of Police has received an application for the grant of a premises licence made 
under the provisions of Section 17 Licensing Act 2003, and under Section 18 of that Act, asks 
the Licensing Authority to consider these representations in respect of: -  

Prevention of crime and disorder X 
Public Safety X 
Prevention of public nuisance X 
Protection of children from harm  

 

Page 33



 
Is this a representation regarding the Designation of Premises Supervisor under S18 (9) 
Licensing Act 2003?   No 
 
If yes complete the appropriate statement: 
 
 
Please give the reason for the representation and detail the evidence supporting it under the 
appropriate headings: 
 

This application is for a premises which is currently trading as a mini market however has now 
extended into a neighbouring address, 30 Milton Road. The premises is situated on the outskirts 
of the town centre, with other retail premises, including other off licences, public houses as well 
as residential properties within the immediate area including above the premises. 

The current premises licence that covers 29 Milton Road covers the sale of alcohol from 0600 
hours to 2300 hours Monday to Sunday, with opening hours of 0600 hours to midnight Monday to 
Sunday, with this application asking for the sale of alcohol 24 hours a day as well as sale of late 
night refreshments from 2300 hours to 0500 hours on a daily basis.  

In light of reading the application, there appeared to be a number of conditions missing between 
between the operating schedule and those within the current premises licence. After liaising with 
the applicants agent, volunteered conditions by the agent were sent to Gravesham licensing.  

1. On first appointment, all staff employed at the premises will receive training on the 
Licensing Act 2003 including input on preventing underage sales, preventing sales of 
alcohol to people who are drunk and any other relevant matters. Training shall be 
regularly refreshed at no less than annual intervals. The training must be recorded and be 
accessible on the premises and made available for inspection upon request of a Police 
Officer or an authorised officer of the licensing authority or (in the case of online training) 
within 48 hours.    

2. A CCTV system will be in operation at the premises and recorded images shall be retained 
for a period of 31 days. CCTV images will be provided to the police and other responsible 
authorities as soon as practicable and in any case within 48 hours of a request for such 
images, subject of the provisions of the DPA.  

3. An incident register will be maintained at the premises and made available to the 
authorities on request. 

4. A register of refusals of alcohol will be maintained at the premises. The register will be 
made available for inspection by the Police and other responsible authority  

5. The premises will adopt a ’Challenge 25’ policy. This means that if a customer purchasing 
alcohol appears to be under the age of 25, they will be asked for proof of their age, to 
prove that they are 18 years or older.  

6. Posters will be on display advising customers of the ‘Challenge 25’policy. 
7. The only forms of identification that will be accepted at the premises are a passport, UK 

photo-card driving licences, military ID & cards bearing the ‘PASS’ hologram.  
8. Between the hours of midnight and 05:00 the store will be closed and customers will not 

be allowed access to the shop & transactions will only take place via a night pay window 
OR a minimum of 2 staff members will be on duty.   

However there were still a number of conditions which were missing, so I liaised with the agent 
again, with further conditions agreed below. No 1 was changed from “DPS/personal licence 
holder must be present to authorise sale/supply of alcohol” as it was recognised the cost of 

Page 34



implementing this as well as staff members leaving when the business has funded obtaining the 
qualification:- 
 

1. An authorisation form detailing all staff who are authorised by the DPS to makes sales of 
alcohol to the public will be prominently displayed in the premises at all times that alcohol 
is being sold.   

2. All alcohol is to be displayed on suitable shelving as indicated on the plan and NOT on the 
floor.  

3. At no time is alcohol to be displayed near to the entrance or exit doors. 

4. All surplus supplies of alcohol are to be stored in a locked stockroom. 

5. No beer, lager, cider, perry or spirit mixer above 7.5% will be sold at the premises.   
 

6. A ‘clear glazing’ policy for the window at the front of the shop shall be kept above 1 metre 
and below 2 meters (measured from the shop floor) so staff have an unobstructed view of 
the area outside the front of the premises through the glass looking into the street. The 
exception to this shall be the display of notices required by law and any required as a 
condition of this licence. 
 

During this consultation, I felt that there were sufficient conditions in place for day and evening 
time opening/sale of alcohol but that despite these being agreed, I felt that condition 8 of initial 
volunteered condition regarding the premises being open overnight using a night hatch/having 
two members of staff, I felt this did not probably recognise the risk of undermining the licensing 
objectives as a result of the premises being open 24 hours a day and raised my opposition to the 
time the premises was open. After further consultation with the applicants agent, I informed 
them that the latest this premises should remain open and be licenced for sale of alcohol and late 
night refreshments should be 0200 hours with a caveat that if the premises was to be open, there 
should be further training for staff members in relation to confrontational situations (CD16 – 
Gravesham Statement of licensing ) well as consider membership of GSAFE or another local 
scheme (CD17 – Gravesham Statement of licensing).  

My reasons are two fold. Although the applicants agent stated the later hours are quieter and 
though the customer numbers maybe lower than day/evening time, I believe the likelihood of the 
customers being intoxicated is likely to be the same or higher during late evening/early morning 
hours and further training and scheme membership would enable staff to feel that they are able 
& supported to refuse sale of alcohol to persons if they felt necessary to take this course of 
action. Also, having also reviewed Kent police CAD system (Storm) for this area, there were 73 
incidents recorded for certain call types of which 6 were recorded between 0200-0400 hours, with 
the remainder between 0600-midnight which I feels evidences my concerns for this stance. 

In 2020, a licencing hearing was held in respect of this premises and failings were recognised by 
the committee, which led to further conditions being imposed. Having visited the premises myself 
in August 2021 I found several breaches of the premises licence and a colleague, PC Hunt 11044 
attended the premises in March 2022 where two minor breaches of the premises licence were 
found however the staff member present on PC Hunts visit appeared conversant with the 
premises licence and knowledge of the conditions. This gives confidence that the premises is 
going in the right direction, in terms of compliance of the premises licence and upholding the 
licensing objectives however feel that the staff within the premises and premises licence holder 
needs to ensure that this continues to improve to ensure there can be confidence in the premises 
and those that own or are employed at the premises. 

Page 35



The premises is within a designated public space protection order area, that was renewed by 
Gravesham council in December 2020. Although this order is for the consumption of alcohol 
within the designated areas, I believe this is evidence to support the need to ensure that 
premises within the area consider this as part of their operating schedule and was reason why I 
wanted to ensure the conditions on the current premises licence were carried over, in order to 
reduce the risk of public nuisance and crime/disorder. 

With consideration to The Revised guidance under S182 of the Licensing Act 2003 stating that 
each application should be reviewed on its own merits, I believe I have done this in reviewing the 
application. I believe that the negotiations with the agent have been constructive and balanced, 
ensuring that the effect of the Covid pandemic have been taken into account to ensure that the 
premises can look forward and provide a better service to customers. I am aware that there 
maybe costs associated with staff training & joining GSAFE or another scheme, however I believe 
that these would contribute to reducing the risk of crime and disorder and promote public safety. 

As I submit these representations, I have had no further contact from the applicants agent and so 
on behalf of Kent police, I believe that 0200 hours would be the latest acceptable time that the 
premises could be licensed for the sale of alcohol and late night refreshments with further 
training to be included for conflict management and membership of GSAFE or another local crime 
reduction scheme and therefore would oppose the application in its current guise. 

However if a new premises licence is granted for this application, in order to mitigate the issues 
raised, I have listed all conditions (some of which has been agreed with the applicants agent) as 
well as other conditions to reduce the risk of undermining the licensing objectives. 

 

1. On first appointment, all staff employed at the premises will receive training on the 
Licensing Act 2003 including input on preventing underage sales, preventing sales of 
alcohol to people who are drunk, conflict management and any other relevant matters. 
Training shall be regularly refreshed at no less than annual intervals. The training must be 
recorded and be accessible on the premises and made available for inspection upon 
request of a Police Officer or an authorised officer of the licensing authority or (in the case 
of online training) within 48 hours.    

2. CCTV will be provided in the form of a recordable system, capable of providing pictures of 
evidential quality in all lighting conditions particularly facial recognition.  
Cameras shall record all ingress and egress to the premises, fire exits and all areas where 
the sale and supply of alcohol occurs.  
Equipment must be maintained in good working order, with recordings correctly time and 
date stamped. Recordings MUST be kept in date order, kept for a period of 31 days and 
handed to police and authorised officers on demand.  
The premises licence holder must ensure at all times a DPS or appointed member of staff 
are on the premises and are capable and competent at downloading CCTV footage in a 
recordable format to the police and local authority subject to DPA, however within 48 
hours.  
The recording equipment and discs/tapes shall be kept in a secure environment under the 
control of the DPS or other responsible named individual.  
An operational daily log report must be maintained and endorsed by signature, indicating 
the system has been checked and is compliant. In the event of any failures, any action 
taken is to be recorded.  
In the event of technical failure of the CCTV equipment the premises licence holder or DPS 
must report the failure to the police licensing officer within 24 hours unless the CCTV is 
repaired within that time (licensing.north.division@kent.police.uk).  
 

Page 36



3. An incident register will be maintained at the premises and made available to the 
authorities on request. 

4. A register of refusals of alcohol will be maintained at the premises. The register will be 
made available for inspection by the Police and other responsible authorities. 

5. The premises will adopt a ’Challenge 25’ policy. This means that if a customer purchasing 
alcohol appears to be under the age of 25, they will be asked for proof of their age, to 
prove that they are 18 years or older.  

6. Posters will be on display advising customers of the ‘Challenge 25’ policy. 
7. The only forms of identification that will be accepted at the premises are a passport, UK 

photo-card driving licences, military ID & cards bearing the ‘PASS’ hologram.  
8. Between the hours of midnight and 05:00 the store will be closed and customers will not 

be allowed access to the shop & transactions will only take place via a night pay window 
OR a minimum of 2 staff members will be on duty.   

9. An authorisation form detailing all staff who are authorised by the DPS to makes sales of 
alcohol to the public will be prominently displayed in the premises at all times that alcohol 
is being sold.   

10. All alcohol is to be displayed on suitable shelving as indicated on the plan and NOT on the 
floor.  

11. At no time is alcohol to be displayed near to the entrance or exit doors. 

12. All surplus supplies of alcohol are to be stored in a locked stockroom. 

13. No beer, lager, cider, perry or spirit mixer above 7.5% will be sold at the premises.   
 

14. A ‘clear glazing’ policy for the window at the front of the shop shall be kept above 1 metre 
and below 2 meters (measured from the shop floor) so staff have an unobstructed view of 
the area outside the front of the premises through the glass looking into the street. The 
exception to this shall be the display of notices required by law and any required as a 
condition of this licence. 

15. The venue will actively participate in the any local crime reduction or equivalent scheme, 
such as GSafe. Any radios provided through such a scheme will be monitored by a 
responsible member of staff. This condition will not apply if the scheme does not operate 
effectively.  
 
 

 
 

PC Ian Pickett 12274 
 
 
PP. Ch. Supt Loudon                                          Date: 28/03/2022 
North Division Area Commander 

Page 37



From: Ian Pickett PC 46012274  
Sent: 29 March 2022 10:30
To: Hopson, Lisa <lisa.hopson@gravesham.gov.uk>
Cc: Gill Sherratt ; Licensing North Division Kent <licensing.north.division@kent.police.uk>; 
Licensing <licensing@gravesham.gov.uk>
Subject: FW: EXTERNAL - RE: New premises application - 29-30 Milton Road, Gravesend, Kent 
DA12 2RF

Good morning Lisa

Having been in consultation with Gill, the attached are conditions that have been agreed for the 
new premises licence.

It has been agreed that sale of alcohol and late night refreshments will end at 0200 hours, 
however the premises will remain open 24 hours for non-licensable activities.

As a result, on behalf of Kent police, I would like to confirm that representations I sent through 
yesterday have been withdrawn. 

Regards
Ian 

Attached conditions:-

Conditions 29 Milton Road, Gravesend

1. On first appointment, all staff employed at the premises will receive training on the Licensing Act 
2003 including input on preventing underage sales, preventing sales of alcohol to people who are 
drunk, conflict management and any other relevant matters. Training shall be regularly refreshed at 
no less than annual intervals. The training must be recorded and be accessible on the premises and 
made available for inspection upon request of a Police Officer or an authorised officer of the 
licensing authority or (in the case of online training) within 48 hours.   

2. CCTV will be provided in the form of a recordable system, capable of providing pictures of 
evidential quality in all lighting conditions particularly facial recognition. 
Cameras shall record all ingress and egress to the premises, fire exits and all areas where the sale 
and supply of alcohol occurs. 
Equipment must be maintained in good working order, with recordings correctly time and date 
stamped. Recordings MUST be kept in date order, kept for a period of 31 days and handed to 
police and authorised officers on demand. 
The premises licence holder must ensure at all times a DPS or appointed member of staff are on 
the premises and are capable and competent at downloading CCTV footage in a recordable format 
to the police and local authority subject to DPA, however within 48 hours. 
The recording equipment and discs/tapes shall be kept in a secure environment under the control 
of the DPS or other responsible named individual. 
An operational daily log report must be maintained and endorsed by signature, indicating the 
system has been checked and is compliant. In the event of any failures, any action taken is to be 
recorded. 

Page 38

mailto:lisa.hopson@gravesham.gov.uk
mailto:licensing.north.division@kent.police.uk
mailto:licensing@gravesham.gov.uk


In the event of technical failure of the CCTV equipment the premises licence holder or DPS must 
report the failure to the police licensing officer within 24 hours unless the CCTV is repaired within 
that time (licensing.north.division@kent.police.uk). 

3. An incident register will be maintained at the premises and made available to the authorities on 
request.

4. A register of refusals of alcohol will be maintained at the premises. The register will be made 
available for inspection by the Police and other responsible authorities.

5. The premises will adopt a ’Challenge 25’ policy. This means that if a customer purchasing alcohol 
appears to be under the age of 25, they will be asked for proof of their age, to prove that they are 
18 years or older. 

6. Posters will be on display advising customers of the ‘Challenge 25’ policy.
7. The only forms of identification that will be accepted at the premises are a passport, UK photo-card 

driving licences, military ID & cards bearing the ‘PASS’ hologram. 
8. Between the hours of midnight and 05:00 the store will be closed and customers will not be 

allowed access to the shop & transactions will only take place via a night pay window OR a 
minimum of 2 staff members will be on duty.  

9. An authorisation form detailing all staff who are authorised by the DPS to makes sales of alcohol to 
the public will be prominently displayed in the premises at all times that alcohol is being sold.  

10. All alcohol is to be displayed on suitable shelving as indicated on the plan and NOT on the floor. 
11. At no time is alcohol to be displayed near to the entrance or exit doors.

12. All surplus supplies of alcohol are to be stored in a locked stockroom.
13. No beer, lager, cider, perry or spirit mixer above 7.5% will be sold at the premises.  

14. A ‘clear glazing’ policy for the window at the front of the shop shall be kept above 1 metre and 
below 2 meters (measured from the shop floor) so staff have an unobstructed view of the area 
outside the front of the premises through the glass looking into the street. The exception to this 
shall be the display of notices required by law and any required as a condition of this licence.

15. The venue will actively participate in the any local crime reduction or equivalent scheme, such as 
GSafe. Any radios provided through such a scheme will be monitored by a responsible member of 
staff. This condition will not apply if the scheme does not operate effectively. 

Amended Condition 8
Between the hours of 00:00 and 02:00 there must be two members of staff on duty or the front doors will be 
closed, customers will not be allowed access to the shop and transactions will take place via a night pay 
window.   

Page 39

mailto:licensing.north.division@kent.police.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



From: Rolles, Lenny <lenny.rolles@gravesham.gov.uk> 
Sent: 24 March 2022 20:25
To: Hopson, Lisa <lisa.hopson@gravesham.gov.uk>
Cc: Milner, Lyn <Lyn.Milner@gravesham.gov.uk>; Croxton, Lee <lee.croxton@gravesham.gov.uk>; 
Lees, Mark <mark.lees@gravesham.gov.uk>
Subject: Objection to Milton Road Convenience Store application for premises licence

Dear Lisa,

I wish to raise an objection to the application for a premises licence for Milton Road Convenience 
Store 29-30 Milton Road Gravesend on behalf of myself and my fellow ward councillors Lyn Milner 
and Lee Croxton.

You will be aware of the issues around street drinking and anti-social behaviour that residents and 
other businesses in the area have experienced as a direct result of the granting of similar licences in 
the area. If this licence is granted it would further exacerbate the challenges in the area and 
threaten the night-time economy by deterring people from going to that part of the town centre due 
to fear of public safety. We are also concerned for the safeguarding of children who live in the area 
who might be kept awake due to further attracting anti-social behaviour to the area and the 
detrimental impact on their schooling from sleepless nights.

We oppose the granting of the licence particularly for the period outlined in the application as it 
would lead to an increase in crime and disorder, public nuisance and will put members of the public 
at risk. We would request that the application is refused on this basis.

With best wishes,
Cllrs:
Lenny Rolles
Lee Croxton 
Lyn Milner

Page 41

mailto:lenny.rolles@gravesham.gov.uk
mailto:lisa.hopson@gravesham.gov.uk
mailto:Lyn.Milner@gravesham.gov.uk
mailto:lee.croxton@gravesham.gov.uk
mailto:mark.lees@gravesham.gov.uk
x-apple-data-detectors://1/


This page is intentionally left blank



From: Thomas Keeffe
Sent: 08 March 2022 21:54
To: Licensing <licensing@gravesham.gov.uk>
Subject: Milton Convenience Store 29 30 Milton Road Gravesend Application

To whom it may concern
 
I wish to formally register my objection to the application by Katathran 
Kandiah for a premises licence for Milton Convenience Store 29 & 30 Milton 
Road
 

late night refreshment Monday to 
Sunday 23.00 – 05.00
Opening hours and sale of alcohol 
Monday – Sunday 00.00 – 00.00

 
My objections are  the licencing objectives
 

the prevention of crime and disorder – crime and anti-social behaviour will 
increase in an area already blighted by these issue from a premises directly 
opposite the applicants premise. This is based on the witnessed behaviour and 
multiple police interventions over many years
 
public safety – concern associated with an increased risk to the safety of people in 
the premises and the immediate vicinity. This is again based on the years of 
witnessed behaviour associated with the premises directly opposite which has both 
a 24 hour alcohol licence and late night refreshment licence

 

 the prevention of public nuisance - Examples of nuisance will include 

 noise – particularly associated with those leaving late night establishments 
in town and those congregating in the vicinity of the premises 

 threats to community safety – many in the community already feel unsafe 
and having yet another 24 hour licenced premises within the area will do 
little to reduce this concern

 litter – based on previous and current experience customers using  the 
premises will continue their late night entertainment in adjacent streets 
leaving a lot of litter in their wake

This community has and continues to endured the consequences of having one  24 hour 
licenced premises. I sincerely hope that the impact on the community will be taken into 
account when considering this application
 
Thomas O’Keeffe

 

Page 43

https://www.medway.gov.uk/info/200176/report_a_problem/392/report_a_problem_with_noise
https://www.medway.gov.uk/info/200219/community_safety/386/community_safety_in_medway
https://www.medway.gov.uk/info/200176/report_a_problem/397/report_litter


 
 

From: Robert Ballantyne 
Sent: 08 March 2022 18:56
To: Licensing <licensing@gravesham.gov.uk>
Subject: Milton Convenience Stores (29 & 30 Milton Road, Gravesend)

To Gravesham Council Licensing Partnership

I refer to the application for a Premises Licence on behalf of the above mentioned premises. 

I would like to register my representation about this licence application. I believe this will be 
detrimental to the area, by enabling the sale of alcohol between midnight and 5am. This will 
encourage anti- social behaviour with the likes seen at the Shell Garage opposite these premises. 

It will encourage illegal parking, blocking the traffic lights and groups of people milling around 
making the area a no-go area.

We have seen and heard the problems that have occurred at the garage opposite this shop.

What measures would the premises put in to stop unsociable behaviour, including loud noise illegal 
parking and illegal substance abuse.

I do not see the granting of the premises licence as a benefit to the local community in fact the 
opposite.

Your faithfully 

Robert Ballantyne 
 

 
From: steve.gollar 
Sent: 14 March 2022 12:55
To: Licensing <licensing@gravesham.gov.uk>
Subject: Application for premises licence for Milton Convenience Store 29 & 30 Milton Road
 
Good day,
 
With regards to subject application I would like to express my objection. I do not feel there is the 
genuine demand from those living around the location, myself included living in Bentley Street.
 
As we have seen before, when the adjacent petrol station was selling alcohol at all hours, the venue 
would simply become a magnet for unruly revellers wishing to continue their night out after the clubs 
in town have closed. Inevitably this will lead to antisocial behaviour in the road outside the store, or 
groups holding impromptu gatherings in secluded spots in surrounding areas, for example behind the 
garages in Bentley street. This will undoubtedly lead to increased litter and other potential hazards. As 
we are in an alcohol control area we feel that issuing the licence would only encourage consumption 
of alcohol in the area.
 

Page 44

mailto:licensing@gravesham.gov.uk


In terms of late night refreshments, I again feel there is no local demand for same with numerous 
outlets already open till the early hours. Once again it will simply create a magnet to bring revellers to 
the location, leading to the antisocial behaviour listed above.
 
We also note that the premises has already installed a hatch for serving of customers. This again 
would lead to a repeat of the issues experienced with the petrol station where the vendor assumed no 
responsibility for he conduct of the customers once alcohol was handed over.I fear that once again 
alcohol will be sold to people who are already under the influence and should not be served, once 
again fuelling antisocial behaviour.
 
I hope you found my feedback of use.
 
Best regards,
 
Stephen Gollar  

From: Selvavinayakam Sitkumaran 
Sent: 09 March 2022 12:40
To: Licensing <licensing@gravesham.gov.uk>
Subject: Milton convince store 24 hour license(29,30 Milton road)

Dear sir /madam 
I object to This application.I am the landlord of no -16 Milton road and my tenants are concerned 
about having another 24 hour shop selling alcohol on this street.many people already have concerns 
about safety and this will not help..
Many thanks 

S.Sitkumaran

From: Trisha Farthing 
Sent: 16 March 2022 12:29
To: Licensing <licensing@gravesham.gov.uk>
Subject: Public Notice of the application for the grant of a Premises Licence

This is to inform you that I strongly object to a Licence being granted to Milton Convenience Store 
(29&30 Milton Road Gravesend) from 12 midnight to 5am as I am very concerned about the 
disturbamce which undoubtedly will occur during these hours by persons puchasing Alcohol and 
taking the through road from Fort Gardens. As it is there are disturbances in this through road in the 
early hours and I feel this will only get worse if the Licence is granted to Milton Convenience Store

Page 45



Re: Application for: Provision of Late Night Refreshment and Supply of Alcohol for
Milton Convenience Store (29 & 30 Milton Road, Gravesend)

I object, most strongly, to the above application.

My concern is about public safety. Ordinary people going about their lives such as
workers going to or coming home from work will be confronted by those buying and
consuming alcohol or other beverages on Milton Road. The shop front has already
been altered to provide a “night window” facility. There is late night provision at the 
BP garage ADJACENT to the Milton Convenience Store and this has created anti-
social problems, of which the police are aware, for the residents of the area. To 
create an additional “facility” is unnecessary and will create a more pronounced 
public nuisance.

Violence against women is a great concern and focus for the public and the polce 
and must be a point of consideration where groups of people are gathering. 
Females, whether they are part of the group/s or just being out at night, may be more 
vulnerable being near to others consuming alcohol on the street. The prevention of 
crime and disorder is a prime concern here with many people drinking thus creating 
the possibility and opportunity for criminal behaviour, against women and others, 
around Milton Road and then when people disperse to other areas of the town. 
Public safety is a significant concern in this situation.

There are already late night trouble spots in Gravesend - McDonald’s in the centre of
town and the already-mentioned BP garage at the bottom of the town. This 
application, if granted, will add a third area of concern especially as it is alongside an 
already known trouble ‘hot spot’. In addition to the potential for crime the prospect of 
public nuisance arising from the drinking will be the need of toilet facilities which are 
not available and so East Crescent, Bentley Street etc. will be used as public 
conveniences.

Gravesend has become part of a government scheme to try and tackle alcohol-
related crime in the town centre. The above application is enabling street drinking 
There is a ban preventing the consumption of alcohol in a public space from Clifton 
Marine Parade to Milton reaching as far as Leith Park Road near Windmill Hill, 
During the day PCSOs move street drinkers from the clock tower and other areas 
but this application will encourage public drinking around that same area.

I cannot believe this application has any merit for those living around the immediate
area or for others who come through the town late at night for whatever reason. I
sincerely hope the application will be rejected on the grounds outlined above.

Medway and Gravesham Council Licensing Partnership Civic Centre,
Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent,
DA12 1AU

22-03-22
My objection to the application for : Provisions of Late Night Refreshment and Supply 
of Alcohol is enclosed.

Page 46



I was born in Gravesend and am a lifelong resident. I truly believe that the granting 
of such provision will be detrimental to the town.
Lyn Byers

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Hi Lisa,

I would like to submit an objection to the off license on Milton Road getting a 24 hour license 
to serve alcohol. 

I am aware that this premises is regularly selling to known drunks and this has been 
witnessed yesterday morning- selling single cans to known drunks who were already drunk. 
These people regularly cause a nuisance in the town and one was recently charged for an 
unprovoked drunken assault on a utilities engineer. 

So if this premises is already serving these people, things can only get worse with a longer 
license, and will add to issues in the local area. 

Under the licensing objectives of the prevention of public nuisance and also the prevention of 
crime and disorder, I object to the license being granted. 

Kind regards, 

Sophie Jordan
G Safe Coordinator
Civic Centre
Windmill Street
Gravesend 
DA12 1AU 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Consideration of an application for a new premises licence for Milton Convenience Store, 29-30 Milton Road, Gravesend, Kent DA12 2RF
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4
	Appendix 5
	Appendix 6
	Appendix 7
	Appendix 8


